The Story of An Old Minute Book: Upton Cheyney.

Article Appearing in Redland Recorder November 1969

[image: image1.jpg]Atticce plPEpmNg v RedrAnd

PRk RecordeR
Noventek

UpTON CHENEY. &

7 ( 5 B STORY,OF AN OLD MINUTE BOOK.

of Lansdown, on the confines of Gloucester-
shire and Somerset. It is almost equi-
distant from Bristol and Bath. The former
is hidden from view by that old earth-squeeze known
as Kingswood, and the latter by the rounded, tree-
crowned top of Kelston Hill. In the valley below,
the Avon meanders through the meadows,, beyond
which Knowle, Dundry, and the Men-
dips shut out a longer vision. At the
rear of the village the sharply rising
hillside presently reaches the ridge made famous by
that hot fight between the troopers under Prince
Rupert and the forces of Sir William Waller, whéi
the Royalists lost their gallant leader, Sir Bevi]
Grenville, and drove the Parliamentarians from the
crest of the hill, but failed to turn them out of the
City of Bath. A mopument still marks the spot
where this fierce episode, or the fight for Civil and
Religious Liberty, took places
There are wide gaps in the evan-
gelical story of Upton Cheyney. One
hundred years stand between the
battle upon the heights of Lansdown and the begin-
ning of Free Church life in the village nestling amid
its western slopes. Then the oppresiion of a
Monarch was exchanged for the tyranny of King
Mob.  After that, fifty years passed ere a legal right,
was acquired to hold public worship contrary to the
usages of the Kistablishment. And yet again, forty
years passed by before a Free Church was erected.
Still, there are but few similar little communitiés
which can present so consecutive a story, for there is
still preserved a minute book, dating from 1834, and
its opening pages contain a résumé of those earlier
events, which are at once the heritage of the Church
and an inspiration to its members. Mr. William
Clatk, the founder of the present Church at Upton,
was a great benefactor to the people of his own time,
but when he began his minute book, with a grateful
remembrance of the men of an earlier age, he served
posterity as well as he served his own day and genera-
tion,

@HE village of Upton Cheyney lies in the lap

Picturesque
Situation

Broken
Periods.

The first phase of this story is one
of strenuous endeavour, and takes us
back to the glorious revival of religion
and the association of Whitefield and Wesley with
the colliers of Kingswood. = These great preachers

Converted
Colliers.

had associated with them in their work there a man
named John Cennick, who, when his leaders parted
company on doctrinal grounds, was led to throw in
his lot with Whitefield. He was a man of intense
spiritual fervour. Kingswood could no more contain
him than it did the men who had inspired him. He
yearned to proclaim the Gospel of God’s grace in the
benighted hamlets among the Cotswolds, and in the
towns and villages of Wiltshire. His first excursion
in this directiou was to Upton Cheyney, in the year
1740. Here he found a * poor man,” who seems to
have opened the kitchen of his farm cottage in order
that his neighbours might come together and hear
the preacher. How often this occurred there is no
evidence to show, but quickly the news spread, and
“many hundreds from the surrounding neighbour-
hood came to Upton.”

Probably Cennick, who was used to
open-air preaching, at once took the
opportunity for wider service. This
was resented by the Squire, who lived in the Manor
House. He gathered a number of magistrates from
the surrounding district and held a Court in his

Justice’s
Justice.

own house, before which Cennick was summoned to

appear. They ““laid many things to his charge in
order to imprison him.”  But one of the magistrates,
Mr. Haynes of Wick, declared the accusations were
false, and told the preacher that he would ** grant
him a warrant against any man who should dare to
interfere with him on the King's highway.” Cennick
thanked his protector, and withdrawing from the
room he at once commenced to preach to the
people in full sight of the assembled magistrates.
There was a big crowd, and ** whilst many heard him
gladly, many were enraged and stoned him,” with
the result that he received a blow in the face which
**turned black from the bruise.”

A Frenzied

e nick came again and again —every

Tuesday and Friday for many weeks.
So did the mob. Aided and abetted by the Squire,
they tried every form of noise and violence open to
them. The Squire brought a pack of hounds, and
ingeniously excited them by causing a cat in'a cage
to be brought into their midst. The mob brought
bells, & drum, a horn, and even a warming-pan, to
add to the noise of their shouting. They employed
little children to gather basketfuls of dust and dirt,

This was but the beginning. Cen- ,
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which they cast upon Cennick and the little group
around him, so that it took them hours to cleanse
their hair and their clothing. Nor were they content.
with this, for they threatened to take Cennick’s life,
and ‘they ‘employed' roughs who cursed and blas-
phemed, who cast stones and dead dogs at them, and
who beat them with sticks. One man and his wife
rode their horses through the congregation and
thrashed them. wlth their whips, while the horses
injured some of them with their hoofs.

At last deliverance came from a
strange quarter. *“Two rusty fellows”
came upon the scene. They are be-
lieved to have been hired for the special purpose of
doing Cennick an injury. They saw the merciless
rage of the persecutors, and sudden pity flooded
their hearts. Instead of striking Cennick with their
staves, they turned upon their employers. Getting
two others to join them, they lustily sct upon the
crowd of cowards. These they belaboured and
chased from the vicinity. Then they finished their
work by smashing the drum and battering the horn
and warming-pan flat, while the bells they threw to
right and left over the hedges. = “ Then we had
peace, the, residue of the time, in which we abode
praying and singing, and then went quietly home.”’
The next time that Cennick and his friends came to
Upton Cheyney they experienced a worse reception
than ever. But thiswas the last they had to endure.
Their courage had conquered. Faith and patience
achieved their victory over ignorance and preju-
dice.

Strange
Succour.

It is natural to ask how they ob-
tained this freedom. But the answer
does not appear in the manuscript.
Tt is more difficult to understand why the persecution
ever began, It is true that field-preachings were
held to be seditious meetings. But the people of
this district must have been familiar with such
gatherings. Less than five miles away Wesley had
congregations of 5000 and 7000, and even 10,000
persons, who heard him gladly, in the open air, with-
out the smallest disturbance. The story of Kings-
wood must have been the talk of the countryside.
The colliers themselves were amazed at the turaultu-
ous proceedings among the agriculturists. They
urged Cennick to shake the dust of Upton Cheyney
from off his feet. They ordained public fasts, and
held long and fervent prayer meetings, when he
steadfastly refused to give up his self-appointed task.
And some of them loyally went with him and shared
his burden every time. His reward, and theirs, is
found in his testimony that there were many in
Upton who gladly heard the Word, and were con-
tented to suffer with us in the same cause.”

Why this
Uproar ?

OLD MINUTE BOOK.

But who these good folks were, or
what they did in Upton aftet Cennick
passed on his way to endure similar
hardship elsewhere, none can tell.  There is a space
of fifty-four years before any further documentary
evidence can be found. But then we come to very
sure ground. At that time, in order to comply with
the law, it was necessary that any building used for
Nonconformist services should be registered in the
Court of the Bishop of the Diocese. The Church
at Upton Cheyney still possesses the original docu-
ment showing this was done in 1794. It reads as
follows :—

Legal
Authority.

May 13th, 1794.
We whose names are underwritten being Pro-
testant Dissenters from the Church of England do
hereby signify to the Hegistrar of the Bishop's
Court that a house in the ocenpation of Mr. John
Hopes i the Parish of Bitton in the County of
Glowcester is intended to be used as a place for the
religious worship of God by the Protestant Dis-
senters and we do hereby desire the Registrar of
the Bishop's Court to vecord the same pursuant to
the Statute in such case made and provided.

i
JOHN X HOPES.

mark.

STEPHEN MATTHEWS.
THOMAS PROCTOR.
ANN PALMER.
JOHN FERRIS.
To the Right Reverend the
Lord Bishop in Gloveester.

On the 5th day of June 1704 the above Certifi-
cate was duly registered in the Registry of the
Lord Bishop of the Diocese of Gloucester.

THOS. RUDGE, D. Regt.

There is a quiet dignity about this

od d & - .
e an! document which is very pleasing, and
""" the penmanship is as graceful as the
phrasing. Tt is in the handwriting of Stephen

Matthews, and proves him to be a man of education
and refinement. John Hopes evidently was wholly
unlettered, and the pen would seem to have been a
very infrequent instrument in the hands of all the
rest.  We want to ask what induced them to obtain
this certificate 7 Did any others join with them, and
who conducted the services 7 But no reply is forth-
coming. Still, two bits of information are to be
found in the old minute book. The writer thereof
states that this house, where John Hopes lived, was
the very house in which, fifty-four years before;
Cennick first preached the Gospel in Upton ; and
he further says that-in 1830 *‘an old dissipel of
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Christ, Stephen Jones of Upton,” told him that
*“ Mr. Sibery of Frome and Mr. Griffen of Gosport,
when supplying the pulpit at Kingswood Tabernacle,
would come to Upton and preach.”

Doubtless by these names, the Rev.
John Sibree of Frome and the Rev.
W. Griffen of Portsea are meant. But
as the former only began his ministry in 1790,
and the latter in 1792, they could not have been
concerned about Upton till near the date of the
certificate, though they mighit have inspired the
application for it. But the fact that the Kings-
wood Tabernacle preachers did come to Upton
then, indicates a possible continuity of interest
from Cennick's time onwards. There may, or
may not, have been services in Upton during that
long period. Probably not. But Kingswood was
10 great distance. It was the Mecca of Protestant
Gloucestershire. The Tabernacle there had no settled
pastor. Its pulpit was supplied by the greatest
preachers of the day, who, under the Whitefield
system, itinerated from place to place. The people
flocked from far and wide.to hear them. And it is
reasonable to assume that Protestant Dissenters from
Upton Cheyney were regularly to be found among
the thronging crowds of eager listeners

But now that the villagers had se-
cured a religious home in their own
midst, we want to know how long the
services were maintained ; when and why they were
discontinued ; was there a difficulty in obtaining
regular preachers, or did the people long for' the
enthusiasm of numbers at the Tabernacle instead of
the quiet of the few in their own communion ; or,
worse still, did they become lukewarm and lax in
their Christian profession ? This also the writer of
the minute book forgets to record. Yet he has told
us three things of interest. The first is, that when
he came from Newnham to live in Upton, in 1830,
he heard that  the village had been neglected for
nearly thirty years,” and" ““finding the villagers
immersed in great darkness, he invited the people
to his house to hear the Word of God read.” The
second is, that this house of his was the very same
in which Cennick had preached and John Hopes had
lived, and for which the Bishop’s license had been
obtained. The third is that, as already mentioned,
he found at least one aged Christian, in the person
of Stephen Jones, who remembered the former days
with love and gratitude.

From this we learn that the services
did not continue more than six or
eight years, and possibly the most
correct hypothesis is that John Hopes passed away,
and that some new tenant or owner of the house

The Mecca of
the Shire.

Links in the
Chain.

Preaching in
a Kitchen.

OLD MINUTE BOOK.

was not like-minded unto himself. - At any rate, the
swelling tide of spiritual fervour which kissed 'the
opening years of the nineteenth century did ot
greet Upton Cheyney. The tiny -village, ‘enfolded
among the foothills of the lower Cotswolds, was lost
in a sort of moral backwater till, as he himself writes,
“in the good providence of God William Clark "
came to reside there, His first modest invitation to
his neighbours  to hear the Word ‘of God rend " in
his kitchen was eagerly responded to.  The attend-
ance and the attention” of the people. led him to
apply to the Bristol Itinerant Society for preachers,
The “request was readily granted in October of
the same year (1830), and the kitchen, though large,
proved too small for the congregation.”

After four years, during which the
preachers of the Bristol - Ttinerant
Society met with. much encourage-
ment, it was resolved to build a Chapel.. A piece
of freehold land was secured, and a- building was
erected thereon ab a total cost of £360. This
was opened on September 16th, 1834, Ariong the
trustees the names of Messrs, W. D. Wills, H. 0.
Wills, Fred. Wills, and J. Godwin appear. ' In that
same year a little Congregational Church was formed.
1t consisted of only eight persons, and William Clark,
who heads the roll, was appointed deacon. Appar-
ently they had no Church meetings for fifteen years,
Certainly there are no minutes of one till November,
1849. Then several meetings were held, and it was
resolved that it was undesirable that the business of
the Church should bo conducted solely by M. Clark,
s0 another deacon and a treasurer were appointed to
act with him.. Tt was pointed. out: that the Church
owed Mr. Clark eight pounds for **a stove, putting
backs to seats, d&c.,” and it was deéided that
the treasurer should repay. Mr. -Clark when he
“had surplus funds which weré not likely to be
required.”

Forming a
Church,

But if' the Church held no formal
meetings the members were not for-
getful of the duty.  Here is an entry,
in Mr. Clark’s writing, which is too good to abbrovi.
ate. ““Thewillage of Upton being destitute of
Day School, and having land attached to the Chapél,
this being made known to a kind friend in Bristol,
viz., T. Holmes, Esq:, he'gave usioné hundred
pounds to erect a School House; which was. effécted
for the sum of one hundred and: sevehteen pounds.
Tt was opened on 25tly June, ‘1849, under veryen-
couraging prospects, having forty childfen' in attend-
ance, likewise having.asuitable female tedcher, viz,
Miss Haskins of Kingswood Hill, under the following
arrangement, that, is. to. say, the above. teacher to
receive twopence per week from each child as her

Starting
Day School.
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own, let the number of childrén be more or less,
and that the Committee managing the affairs of the
above school agrees to give the said teacher £10 per
year extra for the children's pence, likewise to have
the privilege of living in the School House free of
rent.”

From 1849 onwards the little Church
settled down quietly to pursue its way.
The old minute book was carried on
4il1 1875, but it has many broken periods. Apparently
there were times when the responsible church officer
of the day preferred to use a book of his own. But
fragmentary as they are, these genuine minutes show
us a people careful about their Church and its finances,
yet never narrow in their views, and always ready to
adopt new ways if they seemed likely to lead to
greater efficiency, For instance, in 1849, when most
Tndependent Churches thought it wrong to have a
member of another Church present at a Church meet-
ing, Upton invited Mr. Somerville, who was a mem-
ber elsewhere, and only “‘a hearer ” with them, to
attend their meetings and consult with them. Then,
in 1850, the Gloucestershire Association invited
Upton to join with Hanham in giving an invitation
to some minister to undertake the pastorate of the
two Churches. The Association was to provide £40
and the Churches were to guarantee £16 each. This
was done, and the Rev. Thomas Page was invited
and undertook the duty. In making this change the
Church was not forgetful of the twenty years’ service
of the Bristol Itinerant Society, and they recorded
both their thanks for *“ generous and faithful minis-
trations,” and their solicitude for a continuance of
*“ them in connection with the Pastor.”

Mr. Page came to a live Church.
He found the members actively in-
terested in the management of the
Sunday-school. They were also conducting cottage
meetings in the district, and they had a preaching
room at Bitton. For this latter they raised a sub-
seription of three shillings quarterly to pay the rent.
Very soon they had to provide more sitting accom-
modation in the Church, and funds were so prosperous
that they tendered Mr. Clark £5 12s. 1d. against
their debt to him of £8. And he, generous soul,
gave them a receipt in full discharge. About the
end of Mr. Page’s ministry (1857) two gifts were
made to the Church. (L) The property was made
compact by the erection of a wall, surmounted by
railings. And (2) Mr. Clark donated a piece of
ground adjoining the Chapel to be used as a grave-
yard.  Here, in 1864, this strenuous helper and
generous benefactor was laid to rest beside his good
wife, who had preceded him the year before.

Without
Prejudice.

The Liberal
Soul.

OLD MINUTE BOOK.

Upton again united with Hanham
for the purpose of giving a call to the
Rev. Richard Clarke, who began his
ministry in 1858 The Church had then thirty-one
members. Three years later the building was licensed
for marriages (1861). In that year the Rev. David
Thomas of Highbury, came to Upton to conduct
the marriage of Mr. P. F. Sparke Evans with Miss
J. F. Somerville. During Mr. Clarke’s ministry the
Church had a second union. Under the Itinerant
Society the Rev. Thomas Drewe was pastor at Old-
land Common, and an arrangement was made for
him to be responsible for part of the work at Upton.
Then in 1867, when both Mr. Clarke and Mr. Drewe
had passed elsewhere, the connection with Hanham
was dropped, and Upton united with Oldland in
giving an invitation to the Rev. F. W. Brown, who
continued in charge till he accepted an invitation to
Kingsland in 1874. Under Mr. Brown's ministry
the Church developed a wider interest. There were
collections for the London Missionary Society ; for
the Widows and Orphans of Missionaries ; and for
the Congregational Union of Gloucestershire and
Herefordshire. ~ And, in recognition of his own
genial character and strong service, Mr. Brown was
presented with ““an elegant timepiece and a purse
of money.”

Wider
Outlook.

These details may seem prosaic after
the romantic episodes of the earlier
years. But they serve to indicate the
happy issues which resulted from “the diffusion of
the Gospel, in the villages contiguous to Bristol, by
means of preaching.” Here, then, endeth the old
minute book, but it by no means concludes the story
of the village, or of its Congregational Church. The
people are still proud to remember the names of
those who helped their forefathers. The memory of
these by-gone leaders is reverently cherished, and
their work steadfastly continued. The visitor of
to-day may admire the interesting Manor House,
before which John Cennick suffered ; he may see the
house where John Hopes lived ; and he may stand
by the grave of William Clark. If he enters the
village Bethel he will hear that it has remained under
the continuous care of the Bristol Itinerant Society,
and he may see that, in celebrating its seventy-fifth
Anniversary, this little Chapel has been restored
with such skill and judgment that, while it satisfies
the most, refined taste in its ornamentation, it could
not fail to give equal pleasure to those who, in former
years, strove for extreme simplicity in the decoration
and furnishing of the House in which they gathered
together to worship God.

After many
Days.

G. H. Wicks,




